THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

-----  
APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS  
THE HONORABLE G. THOMAS COOPER, JR.  
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE  
-----

-----  
CASE NO. 2014-CP-32-0697  
-----

2014-000829

Vivian Atkins, Robert P. Frick, and Kay Hollis,  
in their official capacities as members of the  
Town Council of the Town of Chapin,

Appellants,

v.

James R. Wilson, Jr. in his official capacity  
as Mayor of the Town of Chapin,  
Gregg White in his official capacity as a  
member of the Town Council of the  
Town of Chapin and the Town of Chapin, Defendants

Of whom James R. Wilson, Jr. and Gregg White are

Respondents.

-----

## **ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL**

1. Did the Court err in dismissing the case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP?
2. Did the Court err in denying the Appellants' Motion for Temporary Relief?
3. Did the Court err in dismissing the Second and Fourth Causes of Action on a Motion to Dismiss?
4. Did the Court err in finding that §2.206(b) of the Chapin Town Ordinances applies to Special Meetings called by a majority of Council pursuant to §2.202(3) of the Chapin Town Ordinances?
5. Did the Court err in invalidating the actions taken by the Appellants at the Special meeting?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Town of Chapin has the Mayor-Council form of municipal government with the Mayor and 4 members constituting the Town Council. §5-5-10(a), §5-9-20. Appellants constitute a majority of Council. Respondent Wilson was elected Mayor in November 2013. Respondent White was also elected a member of Council in November 2013. Each took office in January, 2014. The mayor in the Mayor-Council form has the powers set for in §5-9-30. Except for those powers delegated to the Mayor by §5-9-30, the Council has all other powers. §5-7-160.

Shortly after Respondent Wilson took office, the Appellants realized that none of their proposals were being placed on the agendas for Town Council meetings. At that time, Court of Appeals decision in Lambries I was the current law. Lambries v. Saluda County Council, 398 S.C. 501, 728 S.E.2d 488 (Ct. App. 2012). The Appellants interpreted the case as prohibiting them from seeking to amend the agenda at a regular meeting.

After several attempts to get matters on the agenda, Appellants commenced this action on February 26, 2014, seeking declaratory and injunctive relief. The Appellants also filed a motion seeking temporary relief. The Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss the Action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1) and Rule 12(b)(6).

The matter came before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper on March 10, 2014.

Both the Appellants and Respondents presented affidavits to the Court.

In his Order dated March 18, 2014, Judge Cooper denied the Appellants' motion for temporary relief, granted the Respondents' motion and dismissed the action. Rec. p. 1

Appellants filed a Motion pursuant to Rule 59(e). On April 8, 2014, Judge Cooper denied the motion. Rec. p. 10

Thereafter relying on Chapin Ordinance §2.202 and 2.203, on April 5, 2014, the Appellants noticed a special meeting to be held on April 10, 2014. Rec. p. 139 On April 7, 2014, Respondents filed a Motion to enforce Judge Cooper's prior order. rec. p. 134 The Appellants held the meeting on April 10, 2014. On April 14, 2014, the Respondents filed a second Motion to hold the Appellants in Civil Contempt. Rec. p. 147 Respondent Wilson filed an affidavit in support of each motion. Rec. pp. 220, 221 Appellant Atkins filed an affidavit explaining the Appellants' actions. Rec. p.223

The two motions came before Judge Cooper on April 25, 2014.

In his Order dated May 5, 2014, Judge Cooper denied the Respondents' motion for a finding of contempt but Judge Cooper invalidated the actions taken by the Appellants at the special meetings. Rec. p. 12

The Appellants appealed Judge Cooper's first Order and Order denying the Motion to Reconsider to the Supreme Court on April 22, 2014. The Appeal was served on the same day. On April 23, 2014, the Court transferred the appeal to the Court of Appeals. Appellants appealed the second Order on May 23, 2014. The appeal was served the same day. By letter dated June 20, 2104, the Clerk of the Court of Appeals notified the parties that the two cases have been consolidated into a single appeal.

## ARGUMENT

### 1. Did the Court err in dismissing the case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC?

When the Court dismisses an action pursuant to Rule 12, it is limited to considering only the matters alleged in the Complaint. The Court is required to consider all of the allegations of the Complaint to be true and to construe those allegations in a manner most favorable to the Plaintiff. Baird v. Charleston County, 333 S.C., 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999)

The Court is not to consider any facts not alleged in the Complaint. Brown v. Leverette, 291 S.C. 364, 353 S.E.2d 697 (1987)

If the Court considers matters not alleged in the Complaint, the Court should make clear that it is converting the Motion to a Motion Pursuant to Rule 56, SCRPC. The Court did not do so. Rec. p. 1.

Appellants submit that it was at best premature for the Court to dismiss the action prior to any of the parties having the opportunity conduct discovery or explore the issues presented.

In addition, for the Court to find no evidence that the Appellants had sought to amend the agenda at a meeting was clear error. First, the existence or non-existence of such evidence is inappropriate for consideration on a Motion pursuant to Rule 12(b). In addition, at the time of the hearing, the decision of the Court of Appeals in Lambries v. Saluda County Council, 398 S.C. 501, 728 S.E.2d 488 (Ct. App. 2012) (Lambries I) was the law at that time. Lambries I held that agendas for council meeting could not be amended at the meeting without violating the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act §30-4-10, et seq. This holding has now been reversed by the South Carolina Supreme Court. Lambries v. Saluda County Council, 409 S.C. 1, 760 S.E.2d 785 (2014) (Lambries II)

**2. Did the Court err in denying the Appellants' Motion for Temporary Relief?**

In their motion for temporary relief, the Appellants sought an ability to add matters to the agendas set for regular meetings. The Court denied the relief.

Ordinance §2.206 admittedly grants authority to the Mayor to set the agenda for regular meetings. §2.206, as amended on June 6, 2000, however, grants the power to a majority of Council to add matters to the agenda at the meeting. By extension, the ordinance would require a majority of Council to block an item from being considered. Because the holding in Lambries I was law at the time of the hearing, then the Appellants' only remedy to have matters considered at a regular meeting would be to compel the Mayor to add matters to the agenda published before the meeting.

The essence of representative government is for majority rule, subject to certain

minority rights. Allowing the minority to completely control what council may consider is counter to every concept of representative government. To allow the Court's interpretation to stand would allow the Mayor to be "an autocrat, czar and a king." Rec. page 87. It renders Town Council superfluous.

The Court's order essentially insulates the Mayor from any review of his actions. All the mayor has to do is simply refuse to allow items he does not wish to have heard from ever being considered. This contradicts the provisions of 2.206(a).

**3. Did the Court err in dismissing the Second and Fourth Causes of Action on a Motion to Dismiss?**

Appellants sought no temporary relief for the Second and Fourth Causes of Action (the matters raised in the Third Cause of Action have been resolved separately).

As argued above, it was error to decide the allegations at a hearing on a Motion under Rule 12(b)(6).

While Council may have created the position of "Director of Communication and Economic Development," it did not establish any salary for the position; it did not establish a job description or qualifications for the position, nor did it authorize the mayor to hire anyone to fill the position.

The Appellants have been thwarted in their efforts to exercise their statutory authority by the mayor's refusal to place any item regarding the position on the agenda.

If the Appellants are successful in any of the matters arising in this action, they would be entitled to seek an award of attorney fees pursuant to §15-77-300, et seq. If the Order is reversed and remanded for further proceedings, the right of the Appellants to seek attorney fees should also be restored.

**4. Did the Court err in finding that §2.206(b) of the Chapin Town Ordinances applies to Special Meetings called by a majority of Council pursuant to §2.202(3) of the Chapin Town Ordinances?**

The Court was called upon to interpret §2.202 and 2.206 of the Chapin Town ordinances. The Appellants submit that the Judge erred in his interpretation.

"Questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which we are free to decide without any deference to the court below." CFRE, LLC v. Greenville County Assessor, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011).

The Court "must follow the plain and unambiguous language in a statute and ha[s] no right to impose another meaning." McClanahan v. Richland Cnty. Council, 350 S.C. 433, 438, 567 S.E.2d 240, 242 (2002)

"A statute as a whole must receive practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of lawmakers." Sparks v. Palmetto Hardwood, Inc., 406 S.C. 124, 750 S.E.2d 61 (2013)

Section 1.204 of the ordinances states that the titles of the various ordinances are not part of the ordinance. Therefore the title of 2.206 is not part of the ordinance.

By its terms Section 2.206(a) applies only to regular meetings. The term "The agenda" in 2.206(b) must therefore, refer to the "written agenda" set forth in Section 206(a). The Trial Court expanded 2.206 to apply to all agendas for all meetings. This was error.

Section 2.202 refers to special meetings. Two of its three alternatives allow the Mayor to call a special meeting on his own without any concurrence or cooperation from the Town Council. This is consistent with §5-7-250. Section 3 permits a majority of Council to call a special meeting. The freedom of Information Act requires that an agenda for such meeting be posted at least 24 hours prior to the meeting. §30-4-80(a)

The Trial Court stated that permitting the majority to set the agenda for a special meeting called by them would be an implicit partial repeal of §2.206. May 5, 2014 Order p. 4. As stated above, however, §2.206 applies only to a regular meeting. The Court's ruling is in effect a repeal of 2.202(3) because a special meeting without an agenda is a nullity. Lambries II and §30-4-80.

**5. Did the Court err in invalidating the actions taken by the Appellants at the Special meeting?**

§15-53-120 allows the Court to grant further relief "whenever necessary or proper." The section prescribes the procedure: it requires a petition to a Court having jurisdiction

to grant the relief and the Court issuing a Rule to Show Cause.

The Respondents did not follow the procedure specified in the statute.

They filed a motion, not a petition. The Court did not issue any Rule to Show Cause.

More importantly, the Motion addressed issues which were not before the Court in its original order. Nowhere in the original action was the matter of a special meeting addressed. If the Respondents believed that the special meetings called by a majority of Council pursuant to §2.202 and the actions taken by Council at those special meetings were illegal or invalid, they should have filed a new action for a declaratory judgment. A Declaratory Judgment (and by extension, an order denying declaratory relief) is not res judicata for any matter not raised in the action. Although the parties are the same, the issues sought to be litigated are different. Robison v. Asbill, 328 S.C. 450, 492 S.E.2d 400, (Ct. App. 1997).

In invalidating the actions taken at the special meetings, the Trial Court went far beyond the terms of its prior order. This Order simply denied the relief sought by the Appellants.