THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr.
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000829
Circuit Court Case No. 2014-CP-32-00697

RECEIVED
MAR 18 2015
SC Court of Appeals

Vivian Atkins, Robert P. Frick, and Kay Hollis, in their official capacity as members of the Town Council of the Town of Chapin, Appellants,

James R. Wilson, Jr., in his official capacity as Mayor of the Town of Chapin, Gregg White, in his official capacity as a member of the Town Council of the Town of Chapin, and the Town of Chapin, Defendants,

of whom

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

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

- I. **The circuit court rightly declared that Chapin’s Mayor is vested with discretion over items for meeting agendas, a point that Appellants concede.**
 - A. **The plain language of Chapin Town Ordinance § 2.206 provides the Mayor with “approval” authority over agenda items, authority that is consistent with the strong-mayor form of government.**

Appellants’ first cause of action was for a declaration that Chapin Town Ordinance § 2.206 means something other than what it actually says. This ordinance, which governs how the Town’s meeting agendas are prepared, states as follows: “The agenda shall be approved by the Mayor, prior to its distribution.” Chapin, S.C., Code § 2.206(b) (R. p. 114.)

Despite the ordinance’s plain language and the discretion it vests in the Mayor regarding inclusion of items for meeting agendas, Appellants asked the circuit court to declare that the ordinance is “unenforceable to the extent that it grants the Mayor *any* control over the agendas for council meetings.” (Compl. ¶ 11 (emphasis added); R. p. 20.) Judge Cooper rightly rejected Appellants’ request and construed the ordinance to vest the Mayor with discretion to approve agenda items.

As the Court is aware, statutes are to be enforced as they are written, and a statute’s plain language controls the analysis. *See Rainey v. Haley*, 404 S.C. 320, 323,

745 S.E.2d 81, 82 (2013) (“Where the statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.” (quoting *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000))). A statute’s terms are to be given their common and normal meaning. *Morgan v. S.C. DSS*, 280 S.C. 577, 581, 313 S.E.2d 350, 352 (Ct. App. 1984) (“In construing a statute, the words used should be given their ordinary and popular significance.”). When a statute’s terms are clear, “the Court’s inquiry is over.” *Jennings*, 401 S.C. at 4, 736 S.E.2d at 244.

These principles apply equally to local ordinances. See *Charleston County Parks & Recreation Comm’n v. Somers*, 319 S.C. 65, 67–68, 459 S.E.2d 841, 843 (1995) (“It is well settled that when interpreting an ordinance, legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used.”).

Judge Cooper’s construction of the Mayor’s authority was fully consistent with these guidelines. Chapin has a mayor-council form of government. Chapin, S.C., Code § 2.101 (R. p. 111.) Under this “strong mayor” system, the Mayor is:

- Chapin’s Chief Executive Officer, *id.* § 2.105 (R. p. 111);
- Chapin’s Chief Administrative Officer, S.C. Code Ann. § 5-9-30 and Chapin, S.C., Code § 2.402 (R. p. 116); and
- The presiding officer over all meetings of Town Council, of which the Mayor is a member, S.C. Code Ann. § 5-9-30(3) and Chapin, S.C., Code § 2.205 (R. p. 113).

As part of his office’s considerable authority to prioritize issues for the Town, Ordinances §§ 2.201 and 2.202 authorize the Mayor to unilaterally call or change meeting times, and Ordinance § 2.206(b) vests the Mayor with discretion to determine what is considered at

those meetings: “The agenda shall be approved by the Mayor, prior to distribution.” (R. pp. 113–14.)

This “approval” authority is unambiguous. For one, Appellants actually concede on appeal that Judge Cooper’s construction of Ordinance § 2.206 *is correct*. (See Br. of Appellants at 3 (“Ordinance § 2.206 admittedly grants authority to the Mayor to set the agenda for regular meetings.”).)

Nor is Appellants’ concession surprising, as South Carolina courts agree that the authority for an official to “approve” an item includes the discretion to exercise judgment and deny or reject that same item. *See, e.g., Paslay v. Brooks*, 198 S.C. 345, 354, 17 S.E.2d 865, 869 (1941) (“Undoubtedly, the power to approve a claim as the one before us carries with it the discretion to disapprove.”); *Fouche v. Verner*, 30 S.C. 277, 281, 9 S.E. 113, 114 (1889) (“To approve or disapprove the application, necessarily implies the duty of examination—both of questions of law and fact—for the purpose of determining whether the application should be approved or disapproved; and this necessarily implies the exercise of judgment.”).

Other jurisdictions are in lockstep with this straightforward construction of laws that vest discretionary “approval” authority in officials. *See, e.g., People v. Riggs*, 87 P.3d 109, 114 (Colo. 2004) (“The term ‘approval’ itself implies knowledge and the exercise of discretion after knowledge.”); *143rd St. Investors, LLC v. Bd. of County Comm’rs*, 259 P.3d 644, 652 (Kan. 2011) (“In common usage, if one must have approval as a condition precedent, one knows that disapproval is possible.”); *Cunningham v. Comm’r of Banks*, 144 N.E. 447, 455 (Mass. 1924) (“‘Approved’ in the connection in which it is used in [the cited Massachusetts statute] implies the exercise of sound

judgment, practical sagacity, wise discretion and final direct affirmative sanction.”); *Morse v. Curtis*, 200 S.E.2d 832, 835 (N.C. Ct. App. 1973) (“Indeed, Black’s Law Dictionary defines it: “the act of approval” imports the act of passing judgment, the use of discretion and determination as a deduction therefrom.” (quoting *Brice v. Robertson House Moving Wrecking & Salvage Co.*, 105 S.E.2d 439, 446 (N.C. 1958))).

Because the Mayor’s “approval” authority over agenda items derives from the plain language in Ordinance § 2.206(b) and is consistent with his many roles within Chapin’s strong-mayor form of government—evidenced in both South Carolina’s statutes and Chapin’s ordinances—Judge Cooper rightly rejected Appellants’ claim for a declaration that the Mayor plays no part in setting meeting agendas.

Appellants have not identified any defects in the circuit court’s construction of the Mayor’s authority: not one contrary case, not any ambiguous language in the Chapin Town Ordinances, not any contrary South Carolina statutes, nothing. The Court should affirm Judge Cooper’s ruling accordingly.

B. The circuit court did not improperly consider extraneous evidence when dismissing Appellants’ request for declaratory relief.

Despite conceding that Judge Cooper correctly interpreted Ordinance § 2.206(b), Appellants suggest that the circuit court did not follow the proper process under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPP, when dismissing their Complaint. (Br. of Appellants at 2–3.) In their view, the circuit court considered “matters not alleged in the Complaint” when dismissing their case, but they do not identify what those “matters” were. Failure to fully explain an argument in an opening brief forfeits the argument on appeal. *See Potomac Leasing Co. v. Bone*, 294 S.C. 494, 496, 366 S.E.2d 26, 27 (Ct. App. 1988) (“Glasco does not argue its exception that the trial court abused its discretion in denying its motion for

change of venue based on the ground of convenience of witnesses. We therefore deem it abandoned.”).

At most, Appellants argue that the circuit court erred when it noted that there was “no evidence that the Appellants had sought to amend the agenda at a meeting.” (Br. of Appellants at 3.) This collateral attack misses the mark for the simple reason that Appellants never alleged that they had attempted to amend an agenda during a meeting. (Compl. *passim*; R. pp. 19–22.) Judge Cooper certainly did not commit reversible error by noting that Appellants failed to make certain allegations in their Complaint; indeed, the absence of allegations is typically the very basis for granting a Rule 12(b)(6) motion. The Court should reject Appellants’ argument on this point.

C. The circuit court rightly denied Appellants any of the preliminary relief they sought.

Appellants’ next procedural, non-substantive, challenge to the circuit court’s ruling is based on Judge Cooper’s denial of Appellants’ request “for temporary relief.” (Br. of Appellants at 3–4.) Appellants, however, do not support their argument with any discussion of the standards for the preliminary relief that they sought, any discussion of how Judge Cooper erred in applying those standards, or citations to any authority whatsoever to suggest that his decision was incorrect. (*Id.*)

Just as above, the failure to fully discuss and support an argument in an opening brief constitutes a waiver of the appellate argument. *Potomac Leasing Co.*, 294 S.C. at 496, 366 S.E.2d at 27.

Even if the Court finds that this issue is preserved for appellate review, Appellants’ position is simply incorrect. With their Complaint, Appellants filed a motion styled “Motion: Preliminary Injunction.” The relief they requested, though, was described

as follows: “An Order of the Court ordering the Mayor to place any item requested by any member of Council on the agenda of the next occurring Council meeting after the request, without any delay.” (Motion for Preliminary Inj. at 1; R. p. 90.)

Because Appellants asked the circuit court to direct the Mayor to affirmatively undertake specific actions, the circuit court correctly construed their request as one for mandamus. (Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion for Injunctive Relief and Granting Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss at 3; R. p. 3.) See *Sanford v. S.C. State Ethics Comm’n*, 385 S.C. 483, 495, 685 S.E.2d 600, 607 (2009) (explaining that when construing a request for an injunction or mandamus, “it is ‘the substance of the requested relief that matters’ and not the form in which the petition for relief is framed” (quoting *Historic Charleston Holdings, LLC v. Mallon*, 381 S.C. 417, 437, 673 S.E.2d 448, 458 (2009))).

The circuit court likewise correctly declined to issue mandamus directing the Mayor in how he should exercise his discretionary authority. Mandamus, which involves the Judiciary “ordering a public official to perform a ministerial duty,” is the “highest judicial writ known to the law.” *Edwards v. State*, 383 S.C. 82, 95, 678 S.E.2d 412, 419 (2009). It may only be issued when the public official has a duty to perform the requested act and that act is ministerial, and the requesting party has a “specific legal right for which discharge of the duty is necessary” but no other legal remedy short of mandamus. *Id.* at 96, 678 S.E.2d at 419.

If the public official has any discretion about how or whether to perform the requested act, then mandamus is improper. See, e.g., *Redmond v. Lexington County Sch. Dist. No. 4*, 314 S.C. 431, 438, 445 S.E.2d 441, 445 (1994) (denying mandamus because the school board’s challenged conduct involved the exercise of “discretionary authority”);

Linton v. Gaillard, 203 S.C. 19, 24, 25 S.E.2d 896, 898 (1943) (“Nothing is better settled than that mandamus will not be issued to control the discretion or judgment vested by law in public officers.” (quoting *Atl. Coast Line R.R. v. Caughman*, 89 S.C. 472, 482, 72 S.E. 18, 22 (1911))).

Here, as Judge Cooper found and Appellants concede, the Chapin Town Ordinances give the Mayor discretion as to what is approved for inclusion on meeting agendas. Because the Mayor’s authority is discretionary, its exercise cannot be compelled by mandamus. See *State ex rel. Williams v. Heirs*, 51 S.C. 388, 392, 29 S.E. 89, 91 (1898) (“Because the power conferred upon the respondent to approve the claim gave him the right to exercise his discretion in the premises, and where an officer is clothed with discretionary powers mandamus is not the proper remedy.”) (emphasis supplied by the *Williams* court). The circuit court’s ruling on this issue should be affirmed.

II. Judge Cooper properly exercised his discretion to enforce the March 18th Order after Appellants ignored his declarations.

Less than three weeks after Judge Cooper declared that “the Mayor must sign off on the agenda prior to its distribution to Council, and there is no requirement that the Mayor place items on the agenda that he believes do not merit Council’s consideration,” Appellants attempted to hold meetings with agendas that were not transmitted to the Mayor for his consideration and approval. Before they ever held one of these post-judgment meetings, Judge Cooper wrote the parties a letter of warning that if Appellants proceeded contrary to the court’s March 18th declaration, their conduct “could be illegal and of no force and effect.” (Letter from The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. (Apr. 8, 2014); R. pp. 241–42.)

Judge Cooper's warning did nothing to deter Appellants, as they proceeded to hold two meetings contrary to the circuit court's declaration before the parties convened for a hearing on Respondents' motion to enforce the March 18th Order. Following that hearing, Judge Cooper exercised his authority under the Declaratory Judgments Act and issued an order voiding all actions Appellants attempted to take during these "unlawfully held" meetings. (Order on Defendants' Motion to Enforce Order and Enjoin Contrary Conduct and Motion for Civil Contempt at 6-7; R. pp. 17-18.) This ruling was entirely consistent with the circuit court's authority.

South Carolina Code § 15-53-120 provides circuit courts with authority to enforce declaratory judgments that they enter:

Further relief based on a declaratory judgment or decree may be granted whenever necessary or proper. The application therefor shall be by petition to a court having jurisdiction to grant the relief. If the application be deemed sufficient the court shall, on reasonable notice, require any adverse party whose rights have been adjudicated by the declaratory judgment or decree to show cause why further relief should not be granted forthwith.

Like other provisions of the Declaratory Judgments Act, this authority should be "liberally construed" to fulfill its "remedial" purposes. *Id.* § 15-53-130.

Courts at both the state and federal level recognize that this "necessary or proper" statutory language vests trial courts with discretion to enter coercive orders needed to enforce a declaratory judgment. *See, e.g., Ins. Servs. of Beaufort, Inc. v. Aetna Cas. & Surety Co.*, 966 F.2d 847, 852 (4th Cir. 1992) ("The power of the court to retain jurisdiction to give complete and effectual relief is well established, and it follows without any serious controversy that the court may make such further orders to give effect to a declaratory judgment as shall seem meet and proper." (quoting Walter H.

Anderson, *Actions for Declaratory Judgments* § 451 (2d ed. Supp. 1991)); *Bank of Augusta v. Satcher Motor Co.*, 249 S.C. 53, 60, 152 S.E.2d 676, 680 (1967) (“Under these provisions, a court, in a proceeding for declaratory relief, may grant consequential or incidental relief, that is, it may enter a judgment granting both declaratory and coercive relief, where the proper grounds for such relief appear from the pleadings and proof.” (quoting 22 Am. Jur. 2d *Declaratory Judgments* § 100)).¹

Here, Appellants challenge the circuit court’s entry of a post-judgment order enforcing its March 18th declaration on grounds that the court “did not follow the procedure specified” in the Declaratory Judgments Act. (Br. of Appellants at 5–6.) This is not so.

A. The title of Respondents’ motion to enforce the March 18th Order is irrelevant.

Appellants first suggest that the circuit court’s ruling was improper because Respondents filed a “motion” to enforce the March 18th Order, rather than a “petition” to enforce that order. (*Id.* at 6.) The Court should not credit this semantic hairsplitting, as the title of the document that raised the issue of Appellants’ post-judgment misconduct to the circuit court does not carry any relevance. *See Melton v. United States*, 359 F.3d 855, 857 (7th Cir. 2004) (“Call it a motion for a new trial, arrest of judgment, mandamus, prohibition, coram nobis, coram vobis, audita querela, certiorari, capias, habeas corpus, ejectment, quare impedit, bill of review, writ of error, or an application for a Get-Out-of-Jail Card; the name makes no difference. It is substance that controls.”).

¹ The federal Declaratory Judgments Act contains functionally identical language to South Carolina’s version of the statute: “Further necessary or proper relief based on a declaratory judgment or decree may be granted, after reasonable notice and hearing, against any adverse party whose rights have been determined by such judgment.” 28 U.S.C. § 2202.

B. Judge Cooper followed the procedure outlined in the Declaratory Judgments Act when entering his post-judgment order.

Appellants also argue that the circuit court's ruling was improper because it "did not issue any Rule to Show Cause." (Br. of Appellants at 6.) This, too, misses the mark, as the Declaratory Judgments Act only requires the circuit court to provide a party against whom a declaration has been entered to with notice and an opportunity to explain why further relief is not necessary. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-120.

These procedural safeguards were undoubtedly honored here:

- Judge Cooper gave the parties' ten days' notice of a hearing. (Email correspondence from Brandon Reeser, Law Clerk to The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., to Counsel (Apr. 15, 2014); R. pp. 264–71.)
- Both Respondents and Appellants submitted briefs supporting their respective positions. (Mem. in Supp. of Defs.' Post-Judgment Motions; R. p. 251; Return to Mot. for Contempt; R. p. 163.)
- Both Respondents and Appellants submitted sworn testimony supporting their respective positions. (Aff. James R. Wilson, Jr. (Apr. 14, 2014); R. p. 247; Supplemental Aff. James R. Wilson, Jr. (Apr. 21, 2014); R. p. 273; Aff. Vivian Atkins (Apr. 23, 2014); R. p. 223.)
- And both sides were heard during a hearing on April 25, 2014. (Order on Defendants' Motion to Enforce Order and Enjoin Contrary Conduct and Motion for Civil Contempt at 2; R. p. 13.)

After considering all of the arguments and evidence, Judge Cooper properly entered an order enforcing his prior declaration, just as directed by the Declaratory Judgments Act.²

² Nowhere in their appellate brief do Appellants argue that the circuit court's remedy—to invalidate the actions Appellants attempted to take at their unlawful post-judgment meetings—was beyond the court's authority. Nor would such an argument be legitimate, as courts routinely undo actions that public bodies attempt to take in violation of laws that dictate how government should operate. *See, e.g., Bus. License Opposition Comm. v. Sumter County*, 311 S.C. 24, 28, 426 S.E.2d 745, 747–48 (1992) (affirming a lower court's invalidation of a county ordinance on grounds that it was "illegally adopted" during a closed meeting even though no formal vote was taken during that meeting); *Piedmont Pub. Serv. Dist. v. Cowart*, 319 S.C. 124, 130, 459 S.E.2d 876, 879 (Ct. App.

C. The circuit court properly held that Appellants' post-judgment behavior was inconsistent with the March 18th Order.

Finally, Appellants argue that Judge Cooper's second order is not properly part of this case because, in their view, their post-judgment misconduct arose under Chapin ordinances associated with "special" meetings, rather than "regular" meetings, and was therefore beyond the scope of the March 18th Order. (Br. of Appellants at 5–6.) This argument is incorrect for several reasons, as Judge Cooper readily identified in his second order.

Breadth of Appellants' Own Pleadings. As a threshold matter, the March 18th Order was not limited to how agendas were prepared only for "regular" meetings because Appellants' own pleadings were not so limited. Paragraph 12 of the Complaint, for instance, requested a declaratory judgment "ordering the Mayor to place on the agenda of the next Council meeting, without any delay, any item requested by any member of Council." (Compl. ¶ 12; R. p. 20.) Likewise, in their motion for a preliminary injunction, Appellants sought an order directing "the Mayor to place any item requested by any member of Council on the agenda of the next occurring Council meeting after the request, without any delay." (Mot. for Preliminary Inj. at 1; R. p. 90.)

Nowhere did Appellants suggest that their claims for relief were limited only to "regular" meetings. In turn, the circuit court's March 18th Order declared the law as to the agenda for all types of meetings, just as Appellants pled their case. (*See, e.g.*, Order Denying Motion for Injunctive Relief and Granting Motion to Dismiss at 6 (holding that the Mayor has authority "to deny any item requested to be on the agenda for a Council

1995) (affirming a lower court's invalidation of a public body's decision to honor an employment contract when the vote to do so was unlawfully taken in executive session).

meeting”); R. p. 6.)³ Judge Cooper did not abuse his discretion when rejecting Appellants’ post-judgment efforts to recast the scope of their original, unsuccessful, case.

Ordinance § 2.206(b) Does Not Distinguish Among Types of Meetings.

Second, the Chapin Town Ordinances do not distinguish among the various types of meetings with respect to how agendas are established. Chapin has a single ordinance that explains how agendas are to be set, regardless of the type of meeting: Ordinance § 2.206(b), titled “Agenda,” which vests the Mayor with discretion to “approve” items for an agenda. This ordinance does not indicate that it is limited to agendas only for “regular” meetings, nor does it indicate that agendas should be established differently based on the type of meeting being held.⁴

To limit Ordinance § 2.206(b) to only agendas for “regular” meetings would leave the Town of Chapin without any provision for setting agendas for all other types of meetings. But as a matter of South Carolina law, agendas are required for all types of meetings other than regular meetings. S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-80(a). If Appellants’

³ Even if Appellants were factually correct that their pleadings were intended to be limited only to “regular” meetings, which they are not, they still cannot overcome the circuit court’s post-judgment authority to enforce the court’s view of its own declaratory judgment. *See, e.g., Insurance Services of Beaufort*, 966 F.2d at 851 (“This [post-judgment] relief ‘need not have been demanded or even proved in the original action for declaratory relief.’” (quoting *Edward B. Marks Music Corp. v. Charles K. Harris Music Publ’g Co.*, 255 F.2d 518, 522 (2d Cir. 1958))) (emphasis supplied by the *Insurance Services of Beaufort* court).

⁴ In their opening brief, Appellants argue that the title is “not part of the ordinance” based on Chapin Town Ordinance § 1.204. (Br. of Appellants at 5.) This is misleading, as Ordinance § 1.204 expressly states that each ordinance’s title is designed “to indicate or emphasize the contents of such section.” Obviously, by entitling an ordinance “Agenda,” the legislative intent was to pass an ordinance governing meeting agendas. *See, e.g., Duvall v. S.C. Budget & Control Bd.*, 377 S.C. 36, 47, 659 S.E.2d 125, 130 (2008) (relying on a statute’s title as indicia of legislative intent and citing additional cases in support of this same proposition).

argument were accepted, Chapin's ordinances would provide a method for establishing agendas for meetings that do not require an agenda as a matter of state law, but would not provide a method for establishing agendas for meetings that actually do require an agenda as a matter of state law. Judge Cooper rightly rejected this backwards result by construing Ordinance § 2.206(b) to apply to agendas for all types of meetings, an interpretation that matches the ordinance's plain language. *See S.C. Tax Comm'n v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp.*, 316 S.C. 163, 168, 447 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1994) ("In giving effect to legislative intent, we are constrained to avoid an absurd result.")

Appellants' Construction Amounts to Implied Repeal. Finally, Appellants' reliance on Ordinance § 2.202's provisions for calling "special" meetings is misplaced. That ordinance sets forth when "[s]pecial meetings may be held." Chapin, S.C., Code § 2.202 (R. p. 113.) It does not, however, speak to what business may be considered at a "special" meeting, nor does it contain any language to suggest that an agenda for a "special" meeting is set any differently than for all other types of meetings.⁵

Judge Cooper rightly recognized that Appellants' efforts to read into Ordinance § 2.202 additional authority that would subvert the plain language of Ordinance § 2.206(b) would amount to an implied repeal of the Mayor's authority to approve

⁵ This "when versus what" distinction is commonplace with respect to irregular meetings of public bodies. For instance, the South Carolina Constitution authorizes the Governor to convene a session of the General Assembly "on extraordinary occasions." S.C. Const. art. IV, § 19. However, the authority to convene a legislative session does not also authorize the Governor to establish what the General Assembly may consider during that session. *See McConnell v. Haley*, 393 S.C. 136, 139 n.1, 711 S.E.2d 886, 888 n.1 (2011) ("Although the Governor may convene the extra session, she may not dictate the manner in which the General Assembly proceeds at that session or the topics considered."). Similarly here, Ordinance § 2.202 indicates when a "special" meeting may be called, but it does not indicate that the method for setting the agenda for such a meeting differs in any way from the procedure prescribed by Ordinance § 2.206(b).

meeting agenda items. The law, of course, strongly disfavors implied repeal. *Denman v. City of Columbia*, 387 S.C. 131, 138, 691 S.E.2d 465, 468–69 (2010).

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